
 

 
 

EMPLOYEES' CONSULTATIVE 
FORUM  

 

THURSDAY 31 JULY 2008 
7.30 PM  

 
COUNCIL CHAMBER, 

HARROW CIVIC CENTRE 
 

[Pre Meetings: Council 7.00 PM COUNCIL CHAMBER] 
Employees’ 6.30 PM COMMITTEE ROOM 6] 

 
 

  MEMBERSHIP (Quorum:  3 from the Council Side and 3 from the Employees’ Side  
 of the permanent membership)  
    
 
  Chair: 

 
To be appointed at the meeting 

 
Councillors: 

 
David Ashton 
Mrs Camilla Bath 
Susan Hall 
Paul Osborn 
 

Bob Currie 
Graham Henson 
Phillip O'Dell 
 

  
 

Employee Representatives 
 
Representatives of HTCC:  (To be advised)  
 
Representatives of UNISON: Ms L Ahmad 

Ms M Cawley 
Ms A Jackson 
 

Mr G Martin 
Mr R Thomas 
 

Representative of GMB: 
 

Mr J Dunbar 
 

 

Reserve Council Side Members: 
 
1. Joyce Nickolay 
2. Don Billson 
3. Julia Merison 
4. Tony Ferrari 
 

1. B E Gate 
2. Keith Ferry 
3. Navin Shah 
4. Mrs Sasi Suresh 
 

  
 

 
Issued by the Democratic Services Section, 
Legal and Governance Services Department 

 
Contact:  Maureen O'Sullivan, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel:  020 8424 1323    E-mail:  maureen.osullivan@harrow.gov.uk 



 

 

 
  HARROW COUNCIL 

 
EMPLOYEES' CONSULTATIVE FORUM 
 
THURSDAY 31 JULY 2008 
 

 
 

  AGENDA - PART I   
 

1. Appointment of Chairman:    
 To appoint a Chairman for the Municipal Year 2008/09 under the provisions 

of Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 6.1. 
 

2. Attendance by Reserve Members:    
 To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve 

Members. 
 
Reserve Members may attend meetings:- 
 
(i) to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve; 
(ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the 

meeting; and  
(iii) the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that 

the Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve; 
(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives 

after the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member 
can only act as a Member from the start of the next item of business 
on the agenda after his/her arrival. 

 
3. Declarations of Interest:    
 To receive declarations of personal or prejudicial interests, arising from 

business to be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Forum; 
(b) all other Members present in any part of the room or chamber. 
 

4. Arrangement of Agenda:    
 To consider whether any of the items listed on the agenda should be 

considered with the press and public excluded on the grounds that it is 
thought likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted, that 
there would be disclosure of confidential information in breach of an 
obligation of confidence or of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

5. Appointment of Vice-Chairman:    
 To consider the appointment of a Vice-Chairman to the Forum for the 

Municipal Year 2008/09. 
 

6. Minutes:  (Pages 1 - 6) Enc. 
 That the minutes of the meeting held on 8 April 2008 be taken as read and 

signed as a correct record. 
 
 
 



 

 

7. Petitions:    
 To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors 

under the provisions of Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure 
Rule 14 (Part 4E of the Constitution). 
 

8. Deputations:    
 To receive deputations (if any) under the provisions of Advisory Panel and 

Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4E of the Constitution). 
 

9. Public Questions:    
 To receive questions (if any) from local residents or organisations under the 

provisions of Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 16 
(Part 4E of the Constitution). 
 

10. Annual Health and Safety Report 2007/08:  (Pages 7 - 22) Enc. 
 Report of the Corporate Director, Finance. 

 
11. UNISON Report on Asbestos:  (Pages 23 - 24) Enc. 
 Report from UNISON. 

 
12. Culture Change Programme:    
 Verbal update of the Divisional Director, Human Resources and 

Development. 
 

  AGENDA - PART II - NIL   
 



This page is intentionally left blank



ADVISORY AND CONSULTATIVE   VOL. 11  ECF 29  

EMPLOYEES' CONSULTATIVE FORUM 8 APRIL 2008 

Chairman: * Councillor Mrs Camilla Bath 
   
Councillors: * David Ashton 

* Bob Currie 
* Graham Henson 

* Julia Merison (3) 
* Paul Osborn 
  Navin Shah 

Representatives 
of HTCC: 

 (Currently no appointees)  

Representatives 
of UNISON: 

* Ms L Ahmad 
* Ms M Cawley 
* Ms A Jackson 

* Mr G Martin 
  Mr R Thomas 

Representative 
of GMB: 

* Mr J Dunbar 

* Denotes Member present/Employee Representative present 
(3) Denotes category of Reserve Member 

[Notes: (1) Ms M Irons also attended the meeting as a representative of Harrow 
Council Black Workers’ Group; 

(2)  See Appendix 1 for list of officers in attendance.] 

PART I - RECOMMENDATIONS - NIL 

PART II - MINUTES 

101. Attendance by Reserve Members:

RESOLVED:  To note the attendance at this meeting of the following duly appointed 
Reserve Member:- 

Ordinary Member Reserve Member

Councillor Chris Mote Councillor Julia Merison.  

102. Declarations of Interest:

RESOLVED:  To note the following declarations of interest made by Members present 
relating to the business to be transacted at this meeting: 

(i) Councillor Graham Henson declared a personal interest in that he was a 
member of the Communication Workers’ Union and his cousin was a Council 
employee.  Accordingly, he would remain in the room and take part in the 
discussion and decision-making on all items of the agenda.

(ii) Councillor Bob Currie declared a personal interest in that he was a retired 
member of UNISON and his son was a Council employee.  Accordingly, he 
would remain in the room and take part in the discussion and decision-making 
on all items of the agenda.

(iii) Councillor David Ashton declared a personal interest in that his daughter-in-law 
was about to become a Council employee.  Accordingly, he would remain in 
the room and take part in the discussion and decision-making on all items of 
the agenda.

103. Arrangement of Agenda:

RESOLVED:  That (1) in accordance with the Local Government (Access to 
Information) Act 1985, the following items be admitted late to the agenda by virtue of 
the special circumstances and grounds for urgency detailed below:- 

Agenda Item 6
Pages 1 to 6

1



ECF 30  VOL. 11 ADVISORY AND CONSULTATIVE  

Agenda item Special Circumstances/Grounds for Urgency

9. ‘Absence Matters’ Improvement 
Plan 2008 

This report was not available at the time the 
agenda was printed and circulated, because 
the Improvement Plan was still the subject of 
consultation.  Members were requested to 
consider this item, as a matter of urgency, in 
view of the fact that improving staff 
attendance was one of the Council’s priorities. 

10. UNISON Report on Facility 
Time 

This report was not available at the time the 
agenda was printed and circulated, owing to a 
change in delegated authority as a result of 
the union’s Annual General Meeting.  
Members were requested to consider this 
item, as a matter of urgency, in order to help 
ensure the health and well-being of all staff. 

11. Recognition and Procedural 
Agreement between Harrow 
Council and UNISON 

This report was not available at the time the 
agenda was printed and circulated, as it was 
written in response to UNISON’s report (see 
agenda item 10 above).  Members were 
requested to consider this item, as a matter of 
urgency, in order to be able to take an 
informed view on agenda item 10.  

(2)  all items be considered with the press and public present.

104. Minutes:

RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 30 January 2008 be confirmed 
as a correct record and the Chairman be authorised to sign them when they were 
printed in the Bound Minute Volume.

105. Petitions:

RESOLVED:  To note that no petitions were received at this meeting under the 
provisions of the Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 14 (Part 4E 
of the Constitution).

106. Deputations:

RESOLVED:  To note that no deputations were received at this meeting under the 
provisions of Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4E of 
the Constitution).

107. Public Questions:

RESOLVED:  To note that no public questions were received at this meeting under the 
provisions of Advisory Panel and Consultative Forum Procedure Rule 16 (Part 4E of 
the Constitution).

108. Equality Monitoring Report for 1 April 2007 to 30 September 2007:
The Forum received an information report of the Interim Divisional Director, Human 
Resources and Development, setting out progress made by the Council in achieving its 
equality performance targets between 1 April 2007 and 30 September 2007, and 
progress on other equality work.  An officer reported that the Council was consistently 
successful in attracting applicants from black and minority ethnic (BME) backgrounds.  
The percentage of appointments of BME applicants was 50%, which was higher than 
the full-year figure for 2006/07 and close to the Council’s target of matching the 
economically active representation of BME residents in Harrow, currently 51.44%.  The 
proportion of BME applicants short-listed and appointed, however, was lower than the 
proportion of BME applications received, and the overall success of BME internal 
applicants was lower than the overall success ratio for all appointments.  Officers 
acknowledged that more work needed to be done to improve performance.  They 
thanked the unions for their comments in response to the report, and apologised for not 
having answered UNISON’s concerns more promptly. 

Answering a question from a representative of UNISON about the issue of incomplete 
paperwork provided by appointment panels, officers informed Members of steps taken 

2



ADVISORY AND CONSULTATIVE   VOL. 11  ECF 31  

to ensure that records would in future be complete, for example, through the use of a 
recruitment toolkit launched in September 2007. 

In response to a question from the GMB representative about slow progress on the 
recruitment of disabled people, officers reported that the Council was working closely 
with Harrow Association of Disabled People (HAD) on training managers, as well as 
taking all possible practical steps to ensure that staff had every opportunity, both at the 
point of entry and at later stages during their employment, to be encouraged to declare 
any disability.  Members noted that the Council had retained its “two ticks” status as an 
employer committed to improving opportunities and its practice regarding disabled 
people, and that this status needed to be promoted more effectively.  An officer 
reported that the recruitment toolkit would also be one of the ways of ensuring that 
managers were advised and supported during the process of recruiting disabled 
people. 

Responding to a request from the representative of Harrow Council Black Workers’ 
Group (HCBWG) for facility time during which the group could explore relevant equality 
issues, the Interim Divisional Director recommended that both HCBWG and the 
Council’s Disability Awareness, Information and Support Group (DAIS) make as much 
use as possible of the departmental equality task groups, which had been set up 
precisely to discuss equality issues.   

In response to a question from a representative of UNISON, an officer also informed 
Members that departmental equality task groups and the Corporate Equality Group 
were the appropriate forums in which to discuss Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs). 

RESOLVED:  That the Equality Monitoring Report for 1 April 2007 to 
30 September 2007 be noted.

109. ‘Absence Matters’ Improvement Plan 2008:
The Forum received an information report of the Interim Divisional Director, Human 
Resources and Development, setting out actions intended to allow the Council better to 
manage sickness absence and to reduce absence levels.   

An officer reported that absence levels had increased in the period since 2003/04, with 
significant differences between directorates.  An improvement plan, on which the 
unions had been consulted, had been drawn up with a view to providing managers with 
the tools to reduce overall absence levels and for better management by the Council to 
manage sickness absence in the context of staff well-being.  The plan was based on 
Harrow’s previous experience and the experiences of other organisations.   

Asked whether stress had increased as a factor in sickness absence, the officer 
reported that there was insufficient data on the Council’s position on which to draw 
such a conclusion, although the national picture showed rising levels of stress.  In 
addition, monitoring information from the Council’s Occupational Health Service (OHS) 
indicated that stress was increasing as a reason for referrals.  In response to concerns 
from the unions about the potential for higher levels of staff sickness for those working 
with ill and vulnerable people and with, it was claimed, the use of unsatisfactory 
equipment, such as protective clothing, the officer informed Members that managers 
and health and safety officers needed to deal with these issues.  The Interim Divisional 
Director, Human Resources and Development, reported that the aim of the 
improvement plan was to improve consistency across the Council in recording data on 
the causes of absence.  Managers’ awareness of the support available through the 
OHS was also being increased.  The OHS contract had been reviewed recently and the 
Health at Work Group had been involved in this. 

The officer agreed to a request from a representative of UNISON for union 
representatives to attend a management induction course and the briefing session for 
managers on the capability toolkit.  The officer also outlined measures being taken in 
order to communicate information about benefits and well-being to staff who did not 
have internet access or were based away from the Civic Centre.  A Member, speaking 
in his capacity as Portfolio Holder for Strategy and Business Support Services, 
undertook to ask the Council’s communications team to address this issue. 

RESOLVED:  That the report and the comments above be noted.

110. UNISON Report on Facility Time:
The Forum received a report of UNISON, requesting that facility time, in which elected 
officers of the union are able to pursue trade union activities, be increased.  
Representatives of UNISON reported that the time off allowed was insufficient, and that 
members of staff were sometimes expected to catch up with work after taking time off 

3



ECF 32  VOL. 11 ADVISORY AND CONSULTATIVE  

for trade union duties.  The Interim Divisional Director, Human Resources and 
Development, explained to the Forum the difference between statutory time off for 
trade union duties and the non-statutory arrangements for time off for trade union 
activities, the budget for which had been fixed for the current year.  He drew the 
Forum’s attention to the Recognition and Procedural Agreement between Harrow 
Council and UNISON (Minute 111), and asked to be informed of any instances of 
employees’ having to catch up on work after taking time off for trade union duties.  
Officers recognised the work that elected trade union officers carried out in a voluntary 
capacity.  A Member, speaking in his capacity as Portfolio Holder for Strategy and 
Business Support Services, agreed to work towards making the facility time 
arrangements more flexible, but within the current budget, and proposed that any 
further changes be considered in time for the next budget round. 

RESOLVED:  That the report and the comments above be noted. 

(See also Minute 111).

111. Recognition and Procedural Agreement between Harrow Council and UNISON:
The Forum received an information report of the Interim Divisional Director, Human 
Resources and Development, setting out information on the provisions for time off for 
trade union duties and activities agreed under the Council’s Recognition and 
Procedural Agreement with UNISON.   

RESOLVED:  That the report be noted. 

(See also Minute 110).

(Note:  The meeting having commenced at 7.33 pm, closed at 9.00 pm) 

(Signed) COUNCILLOR CAMILLA BATH 
Chairman 

4



ADVISORY AND CONSULTATIVE   VOL. 11  ECF 33  

Appendix 1 

Officers in 
attendance:

 Jon Turner Interim Divisional Director, Human 
Resources & Development (HRD)

 Lesley Clarke HRD Strategy Manager 
 Marion Afoakwa HR Adviser

5



6

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

 
Meeting: 
 

Employees Consultative Forum 

Date: 
 

31 July 2008 

Subject: 
 

Annual Health and Safety Report 
For period 1st April 2007 to 31st March 2008 

Key Decision 
 

No 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Myfanwy Barrett 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

David Ashton  

Exempt: 
 

No 

Enclosures: 
 

None 

 
 
Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 
 
Summary 
This report sets out a summary of the council’s health and safety performance for the year 
1st April 2007 to 31st  March 2008. It also provides an update of activities undertaken 
including action as part of the response to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) post 
inspection management Action plan. In addition it provides information on performance 
measures including training data, audits and accidents. It looks ahead to the work planned 
to support the council in its change agenda and in response to new legislation. 
 
Recommendations: That Cabinet notes this report on corporate health and safety 
performance 
 
 
Reason:  The report meets the objective to assure the health, safety and welfare at work 
of employees, to promote well being; and to lead and be an exemplar of good health and 
safety for our community. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10
Pages 7 to 22

7



 2

Section 2 – Report 
 

1. Executive Summary 
 
The main points during the period 2007/2008 
 

• Reissue of the corporate health and safety policy 
 

• Continuing development of health and safety codes of practice to meet identified 
needs  

 
• Continuing audits of development and implementation of Health and Safety Plans 

 
• Continued support for the managers and employees induction training programmes. 

 
• Support and development of the Health at Work Group  

 
• Continued development of Education Health and Safety Forum. 

 
• Visits by the HSE and Fire Brigade 

 
• Positive feedback from the HSE on progress and in particular on our holistic 

approach to stress and well being  
 

• Further development of the Corporate health and safety scorecard 
 

• Overall meeting key challenges – embedding the health and safety plans and the 
score card approach to measuring health and safety performance.  

 
2. Background  
2.1 The council has annually undertaken a review of how it manages health and safety 
across its operations. It does so as a matter of good practice to challenge and prioritise 
areas of health and safety risk and to enable it to better assign resources to meet its 
statutory, moral and other obligations.  
 
2.2 It is known from research that successful organisations manage their business well 
including the threats to their success. It is also known that accidents and ill health, the 
most visible effect of which is absence from work, put huge pressures and resource costs 
on organisations. They hamper organisational success and prevent organisations fulfilling 
their mission to their customers and stakeholders. The government set itself and business 
targets to reduce accidents and ill health caused by work. Central to delivery of those is 
the role of public bodies as major employers and procurers of goods and services to be 
exemplars of good practice for their local communities including businesses.  
 
3. Post Inspection Action Plan 
 
3.1 As part of the drive for improved health and safety standards in the public sector the 
Health and Safety Executive (HSE), the council’s Enforcing Authority, carried out a 
management inspection in 2005 and periodic interim visits to test progress on our post 
inspection action plan. The key strands of the Post inspection Action Plan has been the 
embedding of a health and safety management system based on health and safety plans 

8



 3

across all council functions. The plans are backed by a programme of audits and a 
strategic level group, the Health and Safety Partnership Board (HSPB) whose task is to 
champion and challenge health and safety performance in the organisation. The last visit 
from HSE was in December 2007. The inspector reviewed the council’s health and safety 
management in three key areas – general health and safety, management of legionnella 
and management of asbestos. Below is a summary of the inspector’s feedback.   
 
3.2  General Health and Safety Management  
“Harrow produces a Group plan which gives responsibilities to group managers, service 
managers and team leaders. H&S training is part of managers (sic) PWP (IPAD type)”.     
 
3.3 Management of Legionella 
“Team leaders responsible for Risk Assessment and implementation of controls. 
Legionella management arrangements are adequate. From 1st July 2008 all Legionella 
work will be managed by Keir in a 10-year Partner contract with LB Harrow. The new 
arrangements for legionella management need to be understood especially the monitoring 
role of Harrow”. 
 

3.4 Asbestos management  
All properties have been surveyed.  Level2 surveys carried out. All corporate properties 
have an Asbestos management plan on site. Plan contains floor plan with key about 
presence and location of asbestos along with CAD drawing. This information is made 
available to contractors, design team and independent Planning Supervisors. Asbestos 
Plan reviewed annually Procedure in place where prior to construction/demolition work a 
Level 3 survey is carried out. Permit-to-work system includes referring to asbestos 
management plan. Adequate system and arrangements are in place for asbestos 
management. 
 

3.5 Stress Management  
Health at Work Group has revised Stress policy and is devising a health action plan. In 
raising awareness of stress as part of the "Well Being" programme Harrow has a holistic 
approach to stress. The "Well Being" and holistic approach imitative taken by Harrow is a 
good attempt to make the Stress Management Standards work resulting in useful 
arrangements and procedures developed to manage stress”.  
 

3.6 Generally the HSE review was supportive of the action we have taken to date against 
our action. It also provided an opportunity for us to give notice of our intention to move the 
post inspection plan on to better reflect recent changes in the governance and operational 
structure within the council, something inspectors are in agreement with.  
 
4. Health and Safety Policy and Guidance  
 
In the previous year Health and Safety Services revamped existing policies and 
procedures as well as introduced new ones. In this year there has been less emphasis on 
new policies but more on testing compliance with keys ones through the audit programme, 
training and review. The following have been changed or introduced during the year.  
A new driving policy  
A new policy on dealing with difficult people 
A policy in Lifting Operations  
A new Construction policy incorporating CDM (Construction Design and Management)  
A revised council health and safety policy  
Revised Directorate policies changed to reflect the changes in management  

9



 4

5. Health and Safety Groups 
 
5.1 Health and Safety Groups are central to the council’s strategy for gaining cooperation 
of employees for promoting and maintaining high standards of performance in health and 
safety.  Group members are tasked with working collaboratively to raise the profile of 
health and safety across the council and beyond. The Health and Safety Partnership 
Board (HSPB), the strategic level group met and approved the council’s revised policy 
statement. They tasked a subgroup, The Health at Work Group (HAWG) with taking 
forward action to promote positive health and well being messages to staff and to identify 
and address ill health and absence. 
 
5.2 Directorate Safety Groups meet to consider issues local to them as well as any 
referrals from the HASPB and the HAWG. It has been a challenging year for them as staff 
changes continued across the council. Environmental and Community have combined to 
better reflect the new Directorate of Environmental and Community Services. 
 
5.3 Meetings of the Educational Health and Safety Forum included talks by Community 
Safety, and Road Safety. School staff also had an opportunity for update on the new 
Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2007. This is a topical area for 
schools given the range of refurbishment and new build projects currently being 
undertaken.  
 
6 Health and Safety Visits Inspections and Audits  
 
Audits and inspections are the means by which we proactively assess health and safety 
performance. It supports the roll out of the health and safety management system based 
on health and safety plans.  Over 150 visits took place to carry out planned inspections 
audits and site-specific training courses and workshops as well as to respond to requests 
for intervention. The majority of visits were for Children Services Directorate schools, 
particularly where building work was in progress. Visits for the Community and 
Environment Directorate included fact-finding visits to a number of Waste Handling Sites to 
assist managers procuring waste handling contracts.  
 
7. Health and Safety Training 
  
A key observation from the management inspection feedback was that we had a raft of 
courses. However, they were not compulsory, particularly management training. Health 
and Safety Induction for managers and staff is a compulsory training course. Health and  
well being has also been integrated into the compulsory corporate induction courses for 
new managers and staff. Health and Safety Services have developed a training grid to 
help managers identify the training required for different staff in different areas of work and 
provided tailored training to support this. In addition to the regular training programme, the 
following new courses were specifically developed and delivered during the year :- 
Health and Safety for Premises Managers 
Stress and well being training for managers and teams 
Evacuation chair training for operatives and escorts 
Health and Safety for Youth Service Volunteers  
Working with hazardous substances for Street Scene staff  
Training for drivers/ assistants on safety in reversing vehicles  
Coaching for staff to meet health and safety components of their profession qualification 
Training for Education Visits Coordinators 
 

10



 5

8. Educational Visits and Journeys 
 
In September 2007, Health and Safety Services took over scrutiny of visits undertaken by 
our schools and Children’s Services. Educational visits and journeys are an integral part of 
learning for our young people widening their experience and view of the world they are 
part of. However, it can be an area of public concern and incidents nationally attract high 
profile sometime adverse reaction. Our role is to help schools look critically at their 
practice to ensure that reasonable precautions are taken without detracting from the young 
people’s enjoyment and experiences. We have a programme to update the training of all 
coordinators who have local oversight of these trips to ensure that they are planned and 
conducted well but importantly that any feedback about what worked and what did not is 
shared across the school and wider learning community.   
 
9. Occupational Health  
 
In April 2007, the Health and Safety Service took over management of the Occupational 
Health Service contract. The opportunity was taken to review the service and to formalise 
a system of key performance indicators for the service. A successful rollover of the 
contract to the year 2008/9 was achieved at current prices, with fine-tuning the service to 
ensure best use and returns for the council. For example, the service will be providing 
access to physiotherapy services to proactively address musculoskeletal conditions which 
nationally account for a substantially proportion of ill health absence. There will also be 
specific consultant access for managers to improve their skills in dealing with health at 
work. Occupational Health information has been incorporated into staff and managers’ 
health and safety training.  
 
10. Promotion of health, safety and well being 
  
10.1 The Council with our Occupational Health provider, held a very successful health at 
work event in July 2007. Staff from across the council (and visitors to the civic centre) had 
an opportunity to visit the stands and get information on health and wellbeing. Staff signed 
up for health checks, relaxation therapies as well as seminars on health topics. Regular 
health visits are made to the Depot, targeting hard to reach groups. The fair, opened by 
the Mayor, was supported by a range of groups and volunteers representing diverse 
organisations such as Harrow Association for Disabled people, St Marks and Northwick 
Park NHS Trust.  
 
10.2 The revamped intranet presented an opportunity to refresh and update Health and 
safety information for staff, managers and partners across the council.  
In October the council marked national health and safety week by a series of seminars 
based on the theme for the week preventing musculosketal injury. The seminars called 
“Better Backs” contributed the work already being done to address the main causes of 
MSD’s by ensuring risk assessment for manual handling and work with DSE’s are being 
done; training staff in handling safety, and working safely with DSE workstations. support  
 
11. Employee Assistance Programme 
 
In April 2007, the Health and Safety Service also took over management of the Employee 
Assistance Programme. This is part of our benefit package that enables employees to get 
independent telephone advice and where indicated face to face counselling support for a 
range of problems. This supports employees in maintaining their mental, social and 
emotional wellbeing, contributing to general health and resilience of the workforce and 

11



 6

ultimately of the organisation. The programme provider will take part in onsite health 
promotion planned for next year to raise staff’s awareness of the benefits of the service.  
 
12. Health and Safety Score Card 
 
12.1 Self assessment is part of the strategy for driving forward health and safety 
performance. The scorecard was introduced as part of that. It gives an abbreviated 
measure of health and safety progress across Directorates. The eight measures are 
fundamental to strategic management assurance based as they are on criteria associated 
with good health and safety performance. There are  
 

 Planning for health and safety 
 Assessment of health and safety risk  
 A robust review process to ensure that assessments (and plans) reflect 

changing circumstances and that the assumptions on which they are based 
remain valid.  

 Proactive inspection and audit, which support both planning and risk 
management 

 Departmental health and safety group meetings as the basis of communication 
and consultation  

 Visible leadership and management of health and safety  
 Staff training and development for health and safety competence 
 Management training and development for health and safety leadership 

 
12.2 The scorecard is monitored by the HSPB. While the criteria in the current scorecard 
are all well founded and still highly relevant to the council’s operations, at least two other 
measures could be included to further enhance the usefulness of the card e.g. a measure 
to chart sickness absence and another, which looks at environment conditions. There is 
also a clear case for training to support managers in using the scorecard effectively as a 
tool to highlight the work they are doing but also to help them bench mark their practice 
effectively against others as an aid to improvement and shared learning. There is also the 
opportunity for integrating the scorecard into the council’s overall improvement monitoring 
regime. 
 
13. Accidents at Work 
 
13.1 The data for reported accidents in the year are shown in Table 1. The total for the 
previous year is also shown (in brackets). The distribution of numbers between 
Directorates is not exactly comparable with the previous year because of movement of 
staff across Directorates during the year. Though the total overall is slightly up on last year 
the five- year trends continue downwards. 
 
Table 1: Reported Employee Accidents by Directorate 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008 
Directorate Reported Employee Accidents 1/4/2007- 

31/3/2008 
Corporate Finance 2 
Strategy & Business Support 9 
Children’s’ Services 199 
Adults & Housing 96 
Community & Environment 117 
Total reported 423 (418)* 

12



 7

*Note:  the total for the previous year in give in brackets 
 
13.2 The majority of accidents to employees in children’s Services were to staff in schools 
and were for the most part minor injuries as can be seen from the number of RIDDOR 
reportable events recorded (as shown in Table 2). Most incidents resulted during teaching 
and support of students in Special Schools. However, we consider all of these to ensure 
that all action is taken to prevent them because of the impact on staff of repeated minor 
injuries. 
 
Table 2: Reported Employee RIDDOR Accidents by Directorate 
Directorate Reported Employee RIDDOR 

Accidents1/4/2007- 31/3/2008 
Corporate Finance 0 
Strategy & Business Support 1 
Children’s’ Services 11 
Adults & Housing 3 
Community & Environment 10 
Total reported 25 (29)* 
*Note:  the total for the previous year in give in brackets 
 
13.3 The number of near-miss incident reported by employees is shown in table 3. Near-
miss reporting is encouraged to ensure that early action can be taken to prevent injury and 
losses leading greater adverse impact for the council.  
 
Table 3: Reported Employees Near-miss Incidents by Directorate 
Directorate Reported Employees Near-miss Incidents 

1/4/2007- 31/3/2008 
Corporate Finance 1 
Strategy & Business Support 0 
Children’s’ Services 32 
Adults & Housing 27 
Community & Environment 17 
Total reported 77 (32)* 
*Note:  the total for the previous year in give in brackets 
 
13.4 The top five causes of employee accidents account for the majority of reports. They 
total has fallen but the causes are largely unchanged from previous years and reflect the 
national picture of accidents causes. The picture also supports the council continuing to 
target these priority areas for attention. 
 
Table 4: The Top Five Causes of Employee Accidents 
Causes of Reported 
Accidents 

Reported Employee Accidents – Top Five 
Causes (1/4/2007- 31/3/2008) 

Violence and aggression 157 
Slips, trips and falls 73 
Struck by/struck against 57 
Manual handling 27 
Falls from height 11 
Total reported 325 (355)* 
*Note:  the total for the previous year in give in brackets 

13



 8

 
13.5 The occupational groups reporting most accidents are shown in table 5. Teachers in 
schools make up the majority of employees so their position at the top may not be 
unexpected. However, the number must also be seen in the light of the fact that there are 
larger numbers of teachers and that the majority of the accidents are minor.  
  
Table: 5 The Top Five Occupational Groups Reporting Accidents  
Occupational Group Reported accidents by top five occupational 

groups (1/4/2007- 31/3/2008) 
Teacher/TA 152 
Escorts 20 
Refuse collector 34 
Parking attendant 20 
Day Centre Officer 19 
Caretakers 17 
Total reported 262 (355)* 
*Note:  the total for the previous year in give in brackets 
 
13.6 Tables 6 and 7 below summarise the accidents/incident data relating to non - 
employees. The majority relate to children in schools and residents in social care and 
Housing establishments. The data also includes RIDDOR reportable injuries (in brackets), 
the majority of which arose from children injured at play being taken to hospital and frail 
elderly clients falling.  
 
Table 6: Non employee Accidents (and RIDDOR reports) by Directorate 
Directorate Non employee accidents (and RIDDOR 

reports) 1/4/2007- 31/3/2008 
Corporate Finance 0 (0) 
Strategy & Business Support 4(0) 
Children’s’ Services 324(180) 
Adults & Housing 197(26) 
Community & Environment 39(3) 
Total reported 556 (208) 
Note: RIDDOR Reports in brackets 
 
Table 7: Contractor incidents reports by Directorate 
Directorate Contractor accidents (and RIDDOR) reports 

1/4/2007- 31/3/2008 
Corporate Finance 0 
Strategy & Business Support 0 
Children’s’ Services 5 
Adults & Housing 2 
Community & Environment 2 
Total reported 9 (6)* 
*Note:  the total for the previous year in give in brackets 
 
13.5 There were five reported fire incidents as shown in table 8 below. The main one was 
that involving a major school fire referred to elsewhere. No injuries were sustained in any 
of the reported incidents.  
 

14



 9

 
Table 8: Fires reported 1/4/2007- 31/3/2008 
Directorate Reported fires 1/4/2007- 31/3/2008 
Corporate Finance 0 
Strategy & Business Support 0 
Children’s Services 1 (Bentley Wood) 
Adults & Housing 2 
Community & Environment 2 
Total reported 5 (6)* 
*Note:  the total for the previous year in give in brackets 
 
14. Health and Safety Training data 
 
A range of health and safety training was delivered during the year both centrally and 
locally in Directorate. New courses were developed to meet emerging needs and an 
opportunity was taken to refresh existing courses such as Health and Safety Induction, 
Stress Risk Assessment and Well Being. Training was also carried out involving contract 
partners and the voluntary sector organisations that work closely with us. As well as large 
group training, coaching and mentoring was employed to assist managers across the 
council in developing their health and safety competence. Table 9 provides a summary of 
the main courses held during the year. 

15



 10

 
Table 9: The Main Health and Safety Training Courses Attendances 1/4/2007- 31/3/2008 
Directorates  
Courses / 

Corporate 
Finance 

Strategy and 
Business Support 

Children’s 
Services 

Adults and 
Housing 

Environment and 
Community 

Total 

Health and Safety 
Induction for staff 

10 45 14 19 60 148 

Health and Safety 
Induction for managers 

 6 6 4  16 

Health and Safety Risk 
Assessment 

1 2 37 6 8 52 

Health and Safety for 
Premises managers 

 1 38 3 6 48 

Stress Awareness       
Fire Marshals 1 5 8 5  19 
Fire Risk Assessment  2  4  6 
Lone working   3   3 
Personal safety 2 4 1 6 8 21 
DSE users   3 14  17 
DSE assessors 1 18 4 6 3 32 
Stress awareness/risk 
assessment 

10 1 1  23 35 

COSHH update   4  7 11 
Evac chair training      4 
Educational Visits 
coordinators 

     89 

Manual Handling  8 25 23 5 61 
Common back 
problems 

     30 

Basic Construction 
awareness 

    14 14 

CDM overview      11 
CDM coordinators      11 
Asbestos Awareness      8 

16



 

 
15. Legislation Update  
 
15.1 Two major pieces of legislation relevant to health and safety came into force during 
the year - the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations (CDM) 2006 and the 
Corporate Manslaughter Act 2007.  The CDM Regulations were revised and reissued by 
the Health and Safety Executive. The regulations aim to tighten the link between the client 
of construction projects and their responsibility for ensuring that health and safety is 
properly integrated into the planning and execution of all construction works including 
maintenance and refurbishment. Health and Safety Services have held training including 
joint work with council partners to update officers on the changes. The health and safety 
policies and codes of practice for construction have also be updated in line with the 
revised regulations and reissued.  
 
15.2 The Corporate Manslaughter Act 2007 is not a health and safety statue. However, its 
has implications for the health and safety culture in the organisation as illustrated by how 
health and safety is supported and managed. The Act seeks to overcome the need to 
establish a controlling mind in looking at organisational culpability where a serious incident 
occurs as a result of a gross breach of a duty of care. In that sense the new Act is a 
potential risk to the organisation financially and reputationally. Training on the 
requirements and implications of the Act are being into grated into existing health and 
safety courses and briefings for key groups rolled out across the council.  
 
16. Emergency support 
 
In July 2007, officers from across the council were engaged in supporting the Bentley 
Wood College following a major fire. Health and safety support was necessary to ensure 
that the salvage and recovery work was conducted without increased risks to the staff and 
partners working to preserve the college and maintain as much as possible of its teaching 
and learning function. Briefings were held for staff and students including students new to 
the college. Importantly support continues during rebuilding particularly support for the 
school community who were are the forefront of dealing with the disruption.  
 
17. Fire Safety 
 
The council has been unable to appoint a permanent fire advisor and it was agreed to 
build upon existing expertise supplemented by the use of external consultants as 
necessary. So far one officer has successfully completed the qualifying programme for 
institute of Fire Engineering Technicians with another two ear-marked for development in 
this area. Fire audits are planned for the next year to ensure that all areas are meeting 
current requirements.  
 
18. Health and Safety Enforcing Authority 
 
18.1 Apart from the HSE Inspection review visit detailed above, HSE as the council’s 
enforcing authority made contact with the council on two other issues during the year. 
They visited the Bentley Wood site where re-instatement works continue following the fire. 
The school is also the site of a major building project to deliver accommodation for its sixth 
form college. The visit was part of their monitoring inspection regime. There was no action 
identified for the council arising from their visit.  
 

17



 

18.2 The compliance arm of HSE also contacted us during the year following an issue 
raised by an employee with them. Following receipt of information from management and 
health and safety adviser the matter was resolved. 
 
19. Health and Safety research 
 
As part of a Masters degree project, a Health and Safety Adviser investigated of the 
experience and construction of violence and aggression among local authority parking 
attendants. Staff from two local authorities were interviewed in depth. The research 
provided a unique perspective into the meaning and experience of violence, leading to 
recommendations for working practices. Action will be taken to bring the findings to the 
widest possible audience and to respond effectively to the recommendations. 
 
20. Plans for 2008/2009  
 

 Continue to use national and local campaigns as opportunities to promote health 
safety and well being during the year – particularly through a health and safety fair 
in July and events for safety week in October. We will raise awareness of men’s 
health issues during the national men’s health week in June. 

 
 Continue to support all Directorates on their service improvement plans, in 

particular the actions to address sickness absence and to improve employee well 
being; action to deliver key services to the schools, housing and adult services 
communities. 

 
 Continue to monitor the services, including Occupational Health, which contribute to 

assuring health and safety well being across the council to ensure that services are 
operating effectively and in ways that make best use of resources.  

 
 Continue the project to revamped the Health and Safety and Occupational Health 

intranet portal to enable our health and well being messages to be communicate 
with as wide an audience as possible. As part of that we will carry out a review to 
ensure that the content is comprehensive and supports all the council’s operations. 

 
 Identify a suite of e-learning packages to support Directorates’ changing needs for 

current and self-directed resources.  
 

 The health and safety plans have proved successful in focussing directors and 
managers on assigning health and safety responsibilities in their teams. The next 
stage is to monitor ensure that health and safety training needs are being identified 
and linked explicitly into their IPAD and performance schemes. 

 
 Devote more resources to monitoring what is being done so early intervention and 

support in Directorates can be put in place to arrest the cycle of things going wrong.  
 

 Continue and extend the work with council partners including the third sector to 
ensure that the council’s standards are not compromised. 

 
 Harrow Health and Safety Service was a founder member of the Contractor Health 

and Safety Assessment scheme (CHAS) – a national scheme for screening 
contractors for health and safety compliance. It is recognised by HSE, the ABI and 
the procurement industry. In view of the client duties in CDM Regulations, 

18



 

contractor competence being relied on will be subject to monitoring and audit using 
the CHAS scheme tools. 

 
 A review of the school visits programme will be undertaken and information shared 

to support any improvements indicated. The feasibility of providing an online 
application and approval process will be looked at. A database of providers will be 
compiled including information on their risk assessments and Adventure Activity 
License arrangement. These measures should speed up the current LEA approval 
process whilst ensuring a risk-based approach to assurance checks.  

 
 Continue to support research into health, safety and well being issues so that 

actions are targeted and evidence based.  
 
21. Cost of Accidents and Work Related Ill Health. 
 
21.1 The most significant risk if the plan are not realised is the costs to the council – legal, 
financial and reputation. The amount of time taken away from work following an injury or ill 
health depends on the type of injury or cause of the ill health as well as the individual’s 
response, which is difficult to predict. Hence, the unit labour cost to the Council of absence 
due to injury/ill -health has to be estimated at an average daily rate for the organisation. 
Information from the 2000/01 Labour Force Survey and HSE data have been used to 
calculate length of absence and the following costs have been estimated in table10 below. 
 
Table 10: The Estimated Cost of Accidents 1April 2007 to 31 March 2008 
Directorate Accidents 1April 2007 to 31 March 

2008  
Corporate Finance 2 
Strategy & Business Support 9 
Children’s’ Services 199 
Adults & Housing 96 
Community & Environment 117 
Total reported accidents 423 
Estimated cost (min) £132,048* 
Note: Costs associated with work related illness have not been included. The estimate 
reflects labour costs (average daily rate). No additional costs such as hiring replacement 
staff, investigation time of the accident, etc have been included. All sickness absence 
recorded on SAP was 66,636 days at an average cost of £8,396,136 (daily pa y rate).  
 
21.2 The cost of accidents and ill health are not only monetary costs but account must be 
taken of the cost to the reputation of the council including its credibility with its community 
and peer authorities, including the results of CPA and other inspections. This is particularly 
relevant given the powers in the new Corporate Manslaughter Act to make a publicity 
order covering in a case. 
 
22. Staffing/workforce  
 
During the year Health and Safety Services lost two experienced members of staff. This 
will have an impact on the volume of work  that can be delivered. 
 
 

19



 

23. Equalities impact 
 
The equality impact of health and safety continues to be part of the monitoring carried out 
in planning and delivering the service. For example equality data in all training attended 
and the use of accessible venues is well established. Alternative formats for delivery of 
messages are used and locally based delivery of training and occupational Health 
Services has enable us to include hard to reach groups including part time workers.    
 
24. Legal comments 
None 
 
25. Community safety 
 

          25.1  The content of the report and recommendations address the need for partner 
agencies to work together to develop and implement strategies to minimise the impact of 
crime, drugs and anti-social behaviour on our staff, contractors etc particularly more 
vulnerable staff e.g. lone workers. The report also provides evidence of the costs of 
accidents, including a disproportionate number of violence and aggression cases. 

 
25.2 The report also recognises that new legislation will have an impact on future risk 
assessment practices and priorities e.g. The Corporate Manslaughter Act 2007 

 
           25.3 The report makes direct recommendations relating to partnership working 

arrangements and activities that should be co-ordinated across agencies and 
implementation of these recommendation will serve to underpin the delivery of crime 
reduction strategy priorities, specifically the violent crime, assaults and ASB priorities and 
as such directly support section 17 key objectives. 

 
           26. Financial Implications 

There are no growth items in the proposed plans for 1st April 2008 – 31st March 2009. All  
items should be contained within the existing budgets. 
 
27. Performance Issues 
Health and safety performance have the potential to impact on the council meeting the 
objectives in its improvement programme. The performance implications are included in 
the main body of the report, which summarises the Council's performance to date. 
 
28. Risk Management Implications 
Management of Health and safety risk is central to this report and contributes to the overall 
management of risk across the council’s operations. 

20



 

 
Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 
 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name:…Myfanwy Barrett 
…………………………. 

√  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date: 
…17.6.2008……………………………….. 

   

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name:    Helen White √  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date: 
……17.6.2008…………………………….. 

   
 

 
 

   

Name:    Tom Whiting √  Divisional Director (Strategy & 
Improvement) 

 
Date: 
……17.6.2008…………………………….. 

   
 

 
Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers 
 
Contact:  Brenda Goring 
Service Manager 
Harrow Health and Safety Services 
Tel 020 8424 1512 
Brenda.goring@harrow.gov.uk  
 
 
Background Papers:   
None 
 
The report include the following considerations  
 
1. Consultation  YES  
2. Corporate Priorities YES  
 

21



22

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 

One is a lonely number, join UNISON and you’re one in a million………… 

Harrow L.G. Branch 
UNISON Office 
Central Depot, Forward Drive 
Harrow, Middlesex 
HA3 8NT 
Tel: 020 8424 1795 
Fax: 020 8424 1835 
 
Email: info@harrow-unison.org.uk 
 
Branch Secretary: Gary Martin 
 
 
 
 

To The Forum of the ECF  
 
UNISON would like to thank the Forum of the ECF, the Administration and the Councillors for 
bringing this matter to a conclusion. Also thanks to Officers of the Council in taking this matter 
seriously. 
 
UNISON request that a written statement is provided stating why the previous participants took so 
long to resolve the issues and for providing conflicting evidence during the investigation.  
 
This was first brought to UNISON attention in June 2006. Initially meetings were held with Access 
Harrow Managers to seek a solution however confusion arose as they were unable to resolve the 
problems and then maintained that we should deal with Facilities Management. There was an 
impasse between the two departments which caused an undue delay of some months. A meeting 
was then arranged with the Building Services / Facilities Management and an Access Harrow 
Manager in July 2006. This meeting proved to be non productive.  A Hazard Notice was issued by 
Unison to the Director responsible for Access Harrow in 25th August 2006. Further meetings then 
took place on the 22nd August 2006 and 29th August 2006. 
 
On 10th October 2006 a meeting with the Director Environment and Community and a Manager 
from the lead Consultants was followed by a walk around the project site. Once again UNISON 
requested and was promised that all relevant documentation relating to the asbestos would be 
provided; once again there was a failure to supply all the relevant documents to the Unions. A 
briefing Note by the Manager Building Services/ Facilities Management was presented to the ECF 
on the 1st November 2006.  
 
A Health & Safety Department Audit Protocol carried out on the Access Harrow project in Jan 2006 
was handed to UNISON in Oct 2006. This report was also distributed to Managers in Building 
Services / Facilities Management, Access Harrow and the Manager Health and Safety Department. 
The report highlighted anomalies which were not subsequently addressed and it was not given 
sufficient priority or importance. Facilities Management provided a letter from an Officer which 
raised various points relating to asbestos issues but did not address the fundamental issue of 
documentation and control of the asbestos removal process. 
 
The HSE was called in by Unison and GMB and after the investigation a letter was submitted by the 
Inspector of the HSE saying that insufficient evidence was found to justify further action. To this 
day we have not been informed how this conclusion came about. We submit that the investigation 
was flawed possibly in part due to evidence or lack of evidence provided by Council Officers / 
Managers. 
  
This matter was then reported by UNISON to the Health and Safety Partnership Board in Nov 2006, 
this was chaired by the Director Environment and Community and in attendance was the Manager 
Health and Safety Department. Once again it was referred to The Manager Building Services / 

Agenda Item 11
Pages 23 to 24

23



One is a lonely number, join UNISON and you’re one in a million………… 
 

Facilities Management for a resolution by Jan 2007. The Manager held a series of meetings on 
Mondays in the month of Jan 2007. These meeting were attended by UNISON, another Manager 
from Building Services /Facilities Management and on occasions the Manager Health and Safety 
Dpt. Once again the meetings proved to be unsuccessful with a management statement (against 
Unison objections) that all the issues were concluded. The Chair of the HSPB was then informed by 
Management that the matter was resolved even after Unison had challenged this arbitrary view in 
writing. Unison referred the matter back to the ECF on 30 Jan 07 however much time had been lost 
due to the issues having been incorrectly signed off. 
 
There was additional correspondence between Unison and Council Officers / Managers and a report 
by an Officer from Health and Safety Dep’t. was provided with speculation on possible scenarios as 
conclusive evidence was not available how the asbestos was removed and subsequently dealt with. 
 
Further meeting were held with Members and Council Officers where no proper evidence was 
provided that the asbestos removal was undertaken under controlled conditions - according to 
legislation and Council safety procedures.  
 
Unison was dissatisfied with the lack of information provided and the inability or reluctance of 
Council Officers / Managers to further the investigation. Unison therefore started its own 
investigation which found evidence that some of the documentation presented did not relate to the 
asbestos removed from the Civic Centre.  
 
We still do not know whether the asbestos was removed legally due to a deficiency or lack of 
managerial control by Council Officers/ Managers, Contractors and Consultants. We maintain that 
Council Officers / Managers have not been proactive in seeking a quick resolution of these safety 
problems and have contributed to the delay and confusion. The Council safety regulations have not 
been followed in the management and control of a major project. We expect that accountability and 
sufficient resources will be pivotal in future contracts. 
  
We await the written response from Council Officers / Managers explaining the causes of the delay 
and failure to resolve the safety issues. We are concerned about the costs incurred by the extended 
investigation and wish to see an estimate of these costs.  
 
The Consultancy with the responsibility for control of the project appeared to take little part in the 
investigation. Failure to involve the Consultancy initially and more fundamentally in the 
investigation needs to be explained. Future business relationships with the Consultancy Company or 
Group should depend on answers received about their duty of care in control of the Access Harrow 
project. 
 
Since Management have failed to verify that safe asbestos removal has taken place all those who 
could have been affected during the period of the project should be notified that they are possibly at 
risk. 
 
Harrow Unison Local Government Branch 

24


	Agenda
	6 Minutes
	10 Annual Health and Safety Report 2007/08
	11 UNISON Report on Asbestos

